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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

June 2012 Grand Jury

Gﬂle 00905'

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
Plaintiff,

[18 U.S.C. § 1349: Conspiracy
o Commilt Health Care Fraud;

!
)
)
)
TV, ;
VICTORIA N. ONYEABOR, ) 18 U.S.C. § 1347: Health Care
GODWIN ONYEABOR, ) Fraud; 18 U.8.C. § 2: Causing
PR. SRI J. WIJEGUNARATNE, } an Act to be Pbone; 18 U.S5.C.
aka “Dr. J,” and ) § 371: Conspiracy to Pay and
HETDT MORISHITA, } Receive Health Care Kickbacks
) 4in Violation of 42 U.5.C.
} §§ 1320a-Tb{b) (1) (&) and
}

{2) (8)]

hefendants.

The Grand Jury charges:
COUNT ONE

[18 U.5.C. § 1349]

A, INTRODUCTORY ALLEGATIONS

AL all times relevant te this Indictment:

The Consplrators

L. pefendant VICTORIA N. ONYEABOR (“V. ONYEABOR”) was the

President, Chief Executive Officer, and Registered Agent for

Fendih Medical Supply Inc. (“Fendih™), a supplier of durable
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medical equipment (“DME”), primarily power wheelchalrs (“PWCs"),

'located in San Bernadino, California,

2. Defendant GODWIN ONYEABOR (“G. ONYEABOR”) was the

Secretary of Fendih. Among his duties, defendant G, ONYEABOR

delivered PWCs for Fendih.

3. Defendant DR. SRI J. WIJEGUNARATNE, also known as
{(“aka”) ﬁDr. J", was a physician licensed to practice medicine in
the State of California. Defendant. WIJEGUNARATNE wrote medically
unnecessary PWC prescriptions and sold them to rendih.

4. Defendant HEIDI MORISHITA {“MORISHITA”) obltalned
medically unnecessary PWC prescriptions and sold them to Fendih.

5. on or about September 20, 2005, defendant V. ONYEARBOR
registered‘as the sole Incorporator and Registered Agent of
Fendih in State of California recoxds. A

6. In or around October 2005, defendant V., ONYEABOR opened
a corporate bank_account for Fendih_at Wells Fargo Bank, account.—
number xxxxxx8370. Defendant V. ONYEABOR maintained sole
signature authority on this account.

1. on or about May 22, 2006, defendant V., ONYEABOR
executed and submitted an application to Medicare to obtain and
maintain a Medicare provider number for Fendih.

8. on or about March 15, 2007, defendant V. ONYEABOR

executed and submitted an electronic funds transfer agreement

(“EFT”) to Medicare, requesting that all future reimburizements
from Medicare be directly deposited into Fendih’s Wells Fargo

corporate account.

9. On or about January 23, 2009, defendant V. ONYEABOR

opened a second corporate bank account for Fendih at Citibank,

2
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account number xxxxx4256. Defendant V. ONYEABOR maintained sole
signature authority on this account.

10. On or about February 3, 2009, defendant V. ONYEABOR
executed and submitted an amended EFT agreement to Medicare,
requesting that all future reimbursements from Medicare be
directly deposited into Fendih’/s Citibank corporalte account.

11. Between on or about January 9, 2007, and on or about
February 18, 2012, Fendih submitted to Medicare claims totaling
approximately $1,€§8,155 for purported PWCs and related services,
and Medicaré paid Fendih approximately $978,818 on those claims.

The Medicare Prodgiam

12. Medicare was a federal healﬁh care henefit program,
affecting commerce, that provided benefits to individuals who
were over the age of 65 or disabled. Medicare was administered
by the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (“CM3"}, a
federal agency under the United States Department of Bealth and
Human Services (“™HHS”).

13. CMS contracted with private insurance companies to (a)
certify DME providers for participation in the Medicare program
and monitecr their compliance with Medicare standards; (b) process
and pay claims; énd (¢) perform program safeguard functions, such
as identifying and reviewing suspect claims,

14, Individuals who gualified for Medicare benefits were
referred to as Medicare “beneficiaries.” Each Medicare '
beneficlary was given a Health Identification Card containing a

unique identification number-(“HICN”).
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15. DME companies, physicians, and other health care
providers that provided medical services that were reimbursed by
Medicare were referred to as Medicare “providers.”

16. To obtain payment from Medicare, a DME company firat
had to apply for and obtaln a provider numper. By signing the
provider application, the DME company agreed to abide by Medicare
rules and regulations. |

17. If Medicare approved a provider’s application, Medicare
would assign the provider a Medicare provider number, enabling
the provider (such as a DME company) o submit claims to Medicare
for services and supplies provided to Medicare beneficiaries,

18. To obtain and maintain their Medicare provider number
billing brivileges, DME suppliers had to meet Medicare standards
for participation. The Medicare contractor responsible forx
evalvuating and certifying DME providers’ compliance with these
standards was Palmetto GBA (“Palmetto”).

19. From in or about October 2006 through the date’ of this
Indictment, Noridian Administrative Services ("Noridian”)
processed and paid Medicare DME claims in Southern California.

20, Most DME providers, including Fendih; submitted their
claims electronically pursuvant to an agreement wlth Medicare that
they would submit claims that wers accurate, complete, and
truthful.

21. Medicare paid DME providers only for DME that was
medically necessary to the treatment of a beneficiary’s illness
or injury, was prescribed by a beneficlary’s physician, and was

provided in accordance with Medicare regulations and guidelines
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that governed whether a particular item or service would be paid

by Medicare.
25, To bill Medicare for DME it provided to a beneficiary,

a DME provider was required to submit a claim (Form 1500).

Medicare required claims to be truthful, complete, and not

misleading. In addition, when a claim was submitted, the
provider was required to certify that the services or supplies
covered by the claim were medically necessary.

23. Medicare yrequired a claim for payment to set Forth,
among other things, the beneficlary’s name and HICN, the type of
pDME provided to the beneficiary, the date the DME was provided,
and the name and unique physician identification number (“UPIN”)
or national provider identifier ("NPI"} of the physiﬁién who
prescribed or ordered the DME.

54. Medicare had a co-payment requirement for DME.

Medicare reimbursed providers 80% of the allowed amount of a DME

claim and the beneficiary was ordinarily obligated to pay the

remaining 20%.

B.  THE OBJECT OF THE CONSPIRACY

25, Beginning on or about Jamuary 9, 2007, and continuing

through on or about February .18, 201%2, in San Bernardino County,

within the Central District of California, and elsewhere,

defendants V. ONYEABOR, G. ONYEABOR, and WIJEGUNARAINE, together
with‘oth@rs known and unknown to the Grand Jury, knowingly
combined, conspired, and agreed to commit health care fraud, in

violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1347.
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C. THE MANNER AND MEANS OF, THE CONSPIRACY

26. The object of the consplracy was carried out, and to be

carried out, in substance, as follows:

a. Defendants V, ONYEABOR and G. ONYEABOR paid
individuals, including defendantsy WIJEGUNARATME and MORISHITA,
for medically unnecessary PWC prescriptions for the purpose of
using those prescriptions.to submit, and cause the submission of,
false and fraudulent claims to Medicare on behalf of Fendih.

'b. After acquiring the false and fraudulent PWC
prescriptions, defendant V. ONYEABOR and her co-conspirators
would submit, and cause the submission of, false and fraudulent
claims to Medicare for PWCs and related accessories that were
purportedly provided by Fendih to Medicare bheneficiaries,

c. As a result of the submission of false and
fraudulent claims; Medicare'mada payments to Fendih'’s corporate
bank accounts at Wells Fargo and Citibank.

d. Defendant V, ONYEABOR then transferred and
disbursed, and caused the transfer and disbursement of, wmonies
from Fendil’S corporate bank accounts to herself and to
defendants G. ONYEABOR and MORISHITA. Defendant V. ONYEABOR also
transferred and disbursad, and caused the transfer and

disbursement of, cash payments to defendants WIJEGUNARATNE and

MORISHITA from Medicare proceeds,
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COUNTS TWO THROUGH NINE
[18 U,5.C. §§ 1347 and 2(b}]
A, INTRODUCTORY ALLEGATIONS

27, The CGrand Jury'incorporates by reference and re-alleges

paragraphs 1 through 24 above of this Indictment as though set

forth in their entirety here.

B. PHE SCHEME T¢ DEFRAUD

28. Beginning on or about January 9, 2007, and continuing
through on or about February 18, 2012, in San Bernardino County,
within the Central District of California, and elsewhere, the
defendants referenced below, together with others known and
unknown to the Grand Jury, Kknowingly, willfully, and with intent
to defraud, executed, and attempted to execute, a scheme and
artifice: (a) to defraud a health care benelit program, namely
Medicare, as to material matters in connection with the delivery
of and payment for health care benefits, items, and services; and
(b) to obtain money from Medicare by means of material false and
fraudulent pretenses and representations and the concealment of

material facts in connection with the delivery of and payment for

health care benefits, items, and services.

C. MEANS TO ACCOMPLISH THE SCHEME TO DEFRAUD

- 29. The fraudulent scheme operéted, in substance, as
described,in paragraph 26 above of this Indictment, which is
hereby incorporated by reference as though set forth in its

entirety here.

b. THE BRECUTION OF TFHE FRAUDULENT SCHEME

30, On or about the dates set forth below, within the

Central District of California and elsewhere, the defendants

7
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referenced below, together with others known and unknown to the
Grand Jury, for the purpose of executing and attempting to
execute the fraudulent schemeé described above, knowingly and
wlllfully caused to be submitted to Medicare for payment the
following false and fraudulent claims purpertedily for power
wheelchairs and related atcessoriles:
COUNT " DEF BENE- | CLATM NUMBER | DATED AMOUNT
_ . FIGIARY | BILIED TO | BILLED
MEDICARE To
) g , | MEDICARE
THO V. CONYEABCR M.S 108031816780 01/30/08 54,500
and 000
G, ONYEABOR
TRREE | V. ONYEAROR | J.V.T. | 108032848386 | 01/30/08 | $4,500
' and 000 :
G. ONYEARBOR
FOUR V. ONYEABOR V.B 105127804663 05/05/09 $4,500
and . 000
G. ONYEABOR
FIVE V. ONYBEABOR c.u 1091778045972 06/25/09 54,500
and 000
. ONYEABOR )
SIX {V. ONYEABOR c.T. 109229812863 | 08/15/09 $4,500
and 000
G. ONYEABOR
SEVEN { V. ONYEABOR M.P 111088476380 04/20/11 52,800
G. ONYEABOR 00
and
WIJEGUN-
ARATNE
EIGHT | V. ONYEABOR W.W 111158413470 04/23/711 $2,800
G. ONYEABOR 00
and
WILIEGUN-
ARATNE
NINE V., ONYEABCR R.L.V 111368330650 05/14/11 52,800
’ G. ONYBEABOR 00

and
WIJEGUN-
ARATNE
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COUNT TEN
(18 U.8.C. §§ 371 and 2{b)]

31. The Grand Jury incorporates by reference and re-alleges

paragraphs 1 through 24 above of this Indictment as though set

forth in their entirety here.

B. - OBJECT OF THE CONSPIRACY

- 32, Beginning at least as earlier as on or about March 12,
2009, and continuing through at least on or about February 18,
2012,'in San Bernardinoc County, within the Central District of
California, and elsewhere, defendants V. ONYEABOR, G, ONYEABOR,
WIJEGUNARATNE, and.MORESHITA, together with others known and
lunknown to the Grand Jury, knowingly combined, conspired, and
agreed to. pay and recelve kickbacks £Qr'patient referrals, in
violation of Title 42, United States Code, Sections 1320a-
7b (b) (1) (A) anda (2} (A).
C. THE MANNER AND MEANS OF THE CONSPIRACY

33. The object of the conspiracy was carried out, and to be |

carried out, in substance, as follows:
a. Defendant V. ONYEABOR would maintain a valid

Medicare provider number for Fendih in order to submit claims to

Meddcare for bME.
bh. Defendant WIJEGUNARATNE would provide DME

prescriptions teo Fendih.

o. Defendant MORISHITA would provide DME prescriptions

to Fendih.
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d. Defendants V. ONYEABOR and G. ONYEABOR would pay,
and cause to be paid, kickbacks to defendants WIJEGUNARAINE and
IMORTSHITA in return for DME prescriptions that Fendih would use
to submit c¢laims to Medicare. |
C. QVERT ACTS |

34. In furtherance of the conspiracy and to accomplish its
object, defendants V. ONYEABOR, G. ONYEABOR, WIJEGUNARATNE, and
MORISHITA, together with others known and unknown to the Grand
Jury, committed and wilfully caused other to commit the following
overt acts, amony others, within the Central District of
California and elsewhere:

Overt Act No, 1: on or about May 16, 2009, defendants V.

i
ONYEABOR and G. ONYEABOR paid and caused to be paid $3,000 to

defendant MORIQHITA. Phis check, which was drawn upon Fendih’s
éitibank account number xxxzx4256 (check number #3576}, ‘
represented kickbacks for DME prescriptions provided by defendant
MORISHITA to Fendih,

overt Act No, 2: On or aboul June 19, 2009, defendants V.

ONYEABOR and G. ONYEABOR paid and caused to be paid $§2,000 to
defendant MORISHITA., This check, which was drawn upon Fendih’s
Citibank account number xxxxx4256 (check number #6043,
represented kickbacks fox DME prescriptions provided by defendant
MORISHITA to Fendih, - | | |

Overt Act No, 3: On or about July 24, 2009, defendants V.

ONYEABOR and G. ONYEABOR paid and caused to be paid $3,000 to
defendant MORISHITA., This check, which was drawn upon Fendih's

Citibank account number xxxxx4256 (check number #508},

10
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represented kilckbacks for DME prescriptions provided by defendant
MORISHITA to Fendih.
Overt Act No. 4: In or arocund March 2011, defendants V.

ONYEABOR and G. ONYEABOR paid and caused to be paid cash
vickbacks to defendant WIJEGUNARATNE for DME prescriptions
provided by defendant WIJEGUNARATINE to Fendih.

A TRUE BILL

/7/

Foreperson

ANDRE BIROTTE JR.

Undted Staies Attorney

ROBERT E. DUGDALE
Assisztant United States Attorney
Chief, Criminal Division

RICHARD E. ROBINSON
Asgistant United States Attoxney
IChief, Major Frauds Section

SAM SHELDON
Deputy Chief, Fraud Section
United States Department of Justice

CHARLES LA BELLA
Deputy Chief, Fraud Section
United States Department of Justice

0. BENTON CURTIS, TII

Assistant Chief, Fraud Section
United States Department of Justice

11
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ANDRE BIROTTE JR.
United States Attorney
ROBERT E. DUGDALE
Assistant United States Attorney
Chief, Criminal Division
0. Bernton Curtis III
Assistant Chief, Fraud Sectlon .
Criminal Division, United States Department of Justice
1100 Floor, United States Courthouse
312 Horth Spring Street
Los Angeles, California 80012
F-mail: Benton.Curtis@usdo]j.gov
Attorneys for Plaintiff
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

UNITED STATES DESTRICT COURTY

FOR THE CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

“UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 2:12-CR~00805-R

PLEA AGREEMENT FOR DEFENDANT
VICTORIA N, ONYEABOR

Plaintiff,

V.
VICTORIA N. ONYEABOR,

Defendant.

1. ‘“his constitutes the plea agreement between VICTORIA N.
ONYEABOR {“defendant”) and the Fraud Section of the United Stales
Department of Justice and the United States Bttorney’s Office for
the Central District of California {collectively, “the USAO"} in
the above-captioned case, This agreement is limited to the USAO
and cannot bind any other federal, state, local, or foreign
prosecuting, enforcement, administrative, or regulatory

authorities.




W e

i

1

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
.18
19
20
- 21
22
23
24

25

26
27
28

Lo w3 2N 61

Case 2:12-cr-00905-R  Document 49 Filediif@ﬁllz Page 2 0of 24 Page ID #:112

DEFENDANT’ S OBLIGATIONS

2. Defendant agrees to:

a) At the earliest opportunity reguested by the USAO
and provided by the Court, appear and plead guilty to count one
of the indictﬁent in this case, which charges defendant with
conspiracy to commlt health care fréud, in violation of 18 U.5.C,
§ 1349,

b) Not contest facts agreed to in this agreement.

¢} Abide by all agreements regarding sentencing
contained in this agreement.'

d) Appear for all court appearances, surrender as
ordered for service of sentence, obey all conditions of any bond,
and obey any other ongoing court order in this matter,

&) Not.commit any crime; however, offenses that would
be excluded for sentencing purposes under United States
Sentencing Guidelines (“U.S.8.G.” or “Sentencing Guidelines”)

§ 4Al.Z2(¢c) are not within thé scope of this agreement.

f) Be truthful at all times with Pretrial Services, the

United States Probation Office, and the Court.

g} Pay the applicable special assessmentis] at or
before the time of sentencing unless defendant lacks the ability
to pay and prior to sentencing submits a completed financial

statement on a form to . be provided by the USAQ.

3. Defendant further agrees to cooperate fully with the
USAQ, the Federal Bureau of Investigation, and the Department of
Health and Human Services, Office of Inzpecter General, O0ffice of

Investigation, and, as directed by the USAC, any other federal,

2
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state, local, or foreign prosecuting, enforcement,
administrati;e, or regulatory authority. This cooperation
requires defendant to:

_ | &) '.Respond truthfully and completely to all questions
that may be put to defendant, whether in ilnterviews, before-a
grand jury, or at any trial or other court proceeding.

b} Attend all meetings, grand jury sessions, t;ials
or other proceedings at which defendant's presence is requested
by the USAQ or compelled by subpoena 5r court order,

) Produce veoluntarily all documehts, records, or
other tangible evlidence relating to matters about which the USAO,
or its designee, inguires.

d) Truthfully disclose to law enforcement officials,
at a date and time to be set by the USAG, the location of,
defendant's ownership interest in, and all other information
known to defendant about, all monies, properties, and/or assets
of any kind, owned and/or controlled by her, including, but not
limited to, all monies, propefties, and/or assets derived from ox
acguired as a result of, or used to faéilitate the commission of,
defendant’s illegal activities, and to forfeit all right, title,
and interest in and to such items, specifically inciuding all
right, title, and interest in and to all United States currency,
pxoperty'and assats, | ‘

&) Pursuant to Title 21, United States Code, Section
853 (p), as incorporated by.Title 18, United 3tates Code, Section
982 (b) (1} and Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461 (¢},
forfelt substitute property, up to the value of any property,

real or personal, that constitutes or is derived, directly or

3
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indirectly, from gross proceeds traceable to the commission of
suéh offense, and/or a sum of money equal to the total amount of
gross proceeds derived from such offense, Lf, by any act. or
omission of defendant, the substitute property, or any portion
thereof, cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence;
has been transferred, sold to or depcsited with a third party;
has been placed beyond the ju¢isdietion of this court; has been
substantially diminished in value; or has been commingled with
other property that cannot be divided without difficulty.

£) Agree to the Court’s entry of an order of
forfeiture at or before sentencing with respect to these assets
and to the forfelture of the assets.

g) Take whatever steps are necessary to pass to the
United States clear title to the assets described above, '
including, without limitation, the execution of a consent decree
of forfeiture and the completing of any other legal documents
required for the transfer of title to the United states.,

h) Not to contest any administrative forfeiture
ppoceediﬁgs or civil judicial proceedings commenced against these
properties. . With xeagect‘to any criminai forfeiture ordered as a
result of this plea agreement, defendant waives the requirements
of Federal Rules of Crimlnal Procedure 32.2 and 43(a) regarding
notice of the forfeiture in the charging instxumeﬁé, ‘
announcements of the forfeiture sentencing, and incorporation of
the forfeiture in the judgment. Defendant acknowledges that
forfeiture of the assets is part of the sentence that may be
imposed in this case and waivés'any failure b? the Court to

advise defendant of thig, pursuant to Federal Rule of Criminal

4
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Procadure 11{(b} (1) {J), at the time the Court accepts defendant’s
guilty plesa.

i) Not ko assist any other individual in any effort
falsely to contest the forfelture of the assetsrdescribed above,

1) Not to claim that reasonable cause to scize the
assets was lacking,

k) To prevent the transfer, sale, deétrUction, or
loss of any and all assets described above to the extent
defendant has the ability to do so.

4, For purposes of this agreement: (1)-“Coop@ration
Information” shall mean any statements majzd.ef or documents,
records, tahgible evidence, or other informaticn provided, by
defendant pursuant to defendant’s cooperation under this
agreement or pursuant to the letter agreement previously entered
into by the parties dated September 14, 2012 (“the Letter
Agreement”); and (2} “Pleé Information” shall mean any statements
made by defendant, under oath, at the guilty plea hearing and the
agreed to factual basis statement in this agreement,

THE USAD'S OBLIGATIONS

5, The USAO agrees to:
a} Not contest facts agreed to in this agreemeht.
b) Abide by all agreements regarding sentencing

contained in thig agreement,.

¢} At the time of seﬁtencing, move to dismissg the
remalning counts of the indictment as agalnst defendant.
Defendant agrees, however, that at the time of sentencing the

Court may consider any dismissed charges in determining the
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applicable Sentencing Guidelines range, the propriety and extent
of any departure from that range, and the sentence Lo be imposed.

d} Aﬁ the time of sentencing, provided that defendant
demonstrates an acceptance of responsibilitf for the offenses up
to and including the time of sentencing, recommend a two-level
reduction in the applicable Seﬁteqcing Cuidelines offense level,
pursuant to U,5.8.G. § 3EL.l, and recommend and, if necessary,
move for an additional one~level reduction if available under
that section.

e) With respect to count one, recommend that
defeﬁdant be sentenced to a ﬁexm of imprisonment no higher than

the low end of the agreed upon Sentencing Guidelines range.

6. The USAC further agrees:

al Not to offer as evidence in its case-in-chief in
the above-captioned case or any other criminal prosecution that
may be broughi aqaiﬂst daefendant by the USAO, or in éonnaction
with any sentencing proceeding In any criminal case that may be
brought against defendant by the USAQ, any Cooperation
Information. Defendant agrees, however, thalt the USAQ may use ‘
both Cooperation Information and Plea Information: {1) .to obtain
and pursue leads to other evidence, which evidence may.be'used
for any purpose, including any criminal prosecution of defendant;
(2) to cross-examine defendant should defendant testify, or to
rebut any evidence offered, or argument or representation made,
by defendant, defendant’s counsel, or a witness called by

defendant in any trial, sentencing hearing, or other court

proceeding; and (3} in any criminal prosecution of defendant for
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false statement, obstruction of justice, or perjury.

b) Not to usé Cooperation Information against
defendant at sentencing for the purpose of determining the
applicable guideline range, including the appropriateness of an
upward departure, or the sentence to be imposed, and to recommend
to the Court that Cocperation Information not be used in
determining the applicable guideline range or the sentence to.be
imposed. Defendant understands, however, that Cooperation
Information will be disclosed to the probation office and the
Court,’ahd that the Couxt may use Cooperation Information for the
purposes set forth in U.8.5.¢ § 1B1.8(b) and for determining the

sentence to be imposed.

o) Tn connection with defendant's sentencing, to
bring to the Court's attention the nature and extent of
defendant’s cocoperation.

) If the USAD determines, in its exclusive judgment,

that defendant has both complied with defendant’s obligations

under paragraphs 2 and 3 above and provided substantial
ass@stance to law enforcemenﬁ in the prosecutlion or investigation
of another ("substantial éssistanca“), to moﬁe the Court pufsuagt
to U.5.8.6. § 5K1.1 to fix an offepse level and correspcnding 7
guideline range below that otherwise dictated.by the sentencing
guldelines, and to recommend & term of imprisonment within this
reduced range.

DEFENDANT 'S UNMDERSTANDINGS REGARDING COOQPERATTON

7. Defendant understands the following:

a) Any knowingly false or misleading statement by
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defendant will subject defendant Lo prosecution for false
statement, obstruction of justice,'and periury and will
constitute a breach by defendant of this agreement.

b Nothing in this agreement requires the USAO or any
other prosecuting, enforcemeat; administrative, or regulatory
authority to accept any cooperation or assistance that defendant
may offer, or to .use it in any particular waf.

o) Defendant cannot withdraw defendant's gullty plea
i¥ the USAC does not make a motion pursuant to U.8.8.G6. § 5K1.1
for a reduced guidelinerrange or 1f the USAO makes such a motion
and the Court does not grant it or if the Court grants such a
USAD motion but elects to seritence above the reduced range.

d) At this time the USAQ makes no agreement or
representation as to whether any cooperation that defendant has
provided or intends to provide constitutes or will constitute
substantial assistance., The decision whether defendant has
provided substantial assistance will rest solely within the
exclusiﬁe judgment of the USAO, .

e) The USAQ's determination whether defendant has
provided substantialrassistanée will not depend in any way on
whether the government prevails at any trial or coﬁrt hearing in
which defendant testifies or in which the government otherwise
presents information resulting from defendaﬁﬁ’a cooperation.

NATURE OF ''HE OFFENSE

8. Defendant understands that for defendant to be gullty of
the crime charged in count one, that is, CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT
HEATTH CARE FRAUD, in violation of Title 18, United States Code,

Section 1349, the following must be true: (1) There was an

8
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agraement between two or more persons to commit the c¢rime of
health care fraud, and (2) defendant became a member of the
conspiracy knowing of its object and intending to help accomplish

jvt"
PENMALTIES AND RESTITUTION

9, Defendant understands that the statuteory maximum
sentence that the Court can impose for a violation oﬁ Title 18,
tnited States Code, Section 1349, is: 10 years’ imprisonmenty a
3~year period of supervised release; a fine of $250,000 or twice
the gross galn or gross loss resulting from the offense, |
whichever is greatest; and a mandatory special assessment of
$100.

10. Defendant understands, therefore, that the total
maximum sentence for all offenses to which defendant is pleading
guilty is: 10 years’ imprisonment; a 3-year period of supervised
release; a fine of 5250,000 or twice the gross galn or gross loss
resulting from the offenses, whichever is greatest; and a
mandatory special assessment of $100.

11. Defendant understands that supervised,release'is a
perlod of time following imprisonmént during which defendant will
be subject to various restrictions and requirements. Defendant

understands that if defendant viclates one or more of the

conditions of any supervised release imposed, defendant may be

returned to prison for all or part of the term of supervised
release authorized by statute for;the offense that resulted in
the term of supervised release, whiéh éould result in defendant
serving a total term of imprisonment greater than the statutory

maximum stated above.
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12, Defendant understands that, by pleading guilty,
defendant may be giving up valuable government benefits and
valuable civic rights, such as the right to vote, the right to
pPosS5ass a firéarm, the right to hold office, and the right to
serve on a jﬁrya Defendant understands that once the court
accepts defendant’s guilty plea;‘it will be a federal felony for
defendant to possess a firearm or ammunition. Defendant
understands that the conviction in this case may also subject
defendant to various other collateral consequences, including but
not limited to revocation of probation, parole, or supervised
release in another case gnd suspensioh or revocatlon of a
professional license. Defendant understands that unanticipated

collateral consequences will not serve as grounds to withdraw

deflendant’s gulilty plea,

13. Defendant understands'that, if défendant is not a
United States citizen, the felony conviction in this case may
subject defendant teo: removal, also known as depcrtétioa, which
may, undér gome clrcumnstances, be mandatory; denial of
citizenship; and denial of admission to the Unlted States.in the
future. The court cannot, and defendant’s attorney also may not
be able to, advise defendant fuliy regarding the immigration
consaguences of the felony conviction in this case, Defendant
understands that unexpected immigration consecquences will not
serve as groundé to withdraw defendant’s guilty plea.

14, Defendant understands that defendant will be tequired.
to pay full restitution to the victim of the offense to which
defendant is pleading guilty. Defendant agrees that, in return

for the USAQO's compliance with its obligations under this

10
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agreement, the Court may order réstitution to persons other than
the victim of the offenses to which.defendant is pleading guilty
and in amounts greater than those alleged in the count to which
defendant is pleading guilty. In particular, de Fendant agrees
that the Court may oxder restitution to any victim of any of the
following fox anyrlosses suffered by that victim as a result: (a)
any relevant conduct, as defined in U.8,S.G. § 1B1.3, in
connection with the cffense to which defendant is pleading
guilty; and (b) any counts dismissed pursuant to this agreement -
as well as all.relevant conduct, as defined in U.8.8.6. § 1B1.3,
in connection with those counts. The parties currently believe
that the applicable amount of restitution is approximately
$978,818, but recognize and agree that this amount could change
haged on facts that come to the attention of the parties prior to
sentenc@ng.

FACTUAL BASIS

15. Defendant admits that defendant is, in fact, guilty of
the offense to which defendant is agreeing to plead guilty.
Défendant and the USAO agree to the statement of facts provided
beléw énd agree that this statement of facts is sufficient to
support a plea of guilty to the charge described In this
agreement and to establish the Sentencing Guidelines factors set
forth in paragraph 17 below but is not meant to be a complete
recitation of all facts relevant to the underlying cfiminal
conduaﬁ or all facts known to either party that relate to that
conduct.,

The defendant, Viqtoria M. Onyeabor {(“defendant.”), sclely

owned Fendih Medical Supply, Inc. (“Fendih”), a supplier of

il
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durable medical equipment (“DMB”} in the Los Angeles area that
specialized in the.provision of power wheelchairs (“PWCs”} and
related accessories to Medicare penaficiaries. Defendant
operated Fendih with the assistance of her husband, G. Onyeabor.

While running Fendih, defendant and G. Onyeébor paid, and
caused to be pald;, kickbacks to Heidi Morishita (“Morishita”), a
“marketer” or “capper,” for DME prescriptions for Medicare
beneficiaries, knowing that the DME was medically unnecessary.
Victoria Onyeabof and G, Onyeabor likewise paid, and caused to be
paid, kickbacks to Dr. Sri. J. Wijegenaratne (“Dr. J7) foxr DME
prescriptions for Medicare beneficiaries, knowing that the DME
was medically unnecessary.

At the time defendant paid the kickbacks to Morishita and
pr. J, defendant knew it was illegal to pay such remuneration for
the referral of Medicare patients and intenéad to violate the law
against such pavments.

Once in possession’ of these bogus DME prescriptions,
defendant and G. Onyeabor delivered, and caused to be deiivered,
the DME to Medicare beneficiaries, knowing the beneficiaries did
not need, and often times did no£ want, fhe DME ,

Defendant, G. Onyeabor, and their co-conspirators, including
Morishita and Dr. J, knowingiy caused Fendih to submit
approximately $1,498,155 in false and fravdulent claims Lo
Medicare for various DME, primarily PWCs and related accessories,
pro%ided to Medicare beneficiaries that were medically
unnecessary. Defendant did so with the intent to defraud
Medicare. As a result of these claims, Medicare paid Fendih a

total of $978,818,

12
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% ' SENTENCING FACTORS

: 16. Defendant understands that in determining defendant’s

’ sentence the Court is required to calculate the applicable

) gentencing Guidelines range and to consider that range, possible

; departures under the Sentencing Guidelines, and the other

? sentencing factors set forth in 18 U.5.C. §v3553(a), Defendant

/ ‘understands that the Sentencing Guldelines are advisory only,

’ that defendant cannot have any expectation of receiving a

’ %entemce within the calculated Sentencing Guidelines range, and
Lo that after considering the Sentencing Guidelines and the othér §
b 3553 (a) factors, the Court will be free to exercise its

e discretion to impose ény sentence it finds appropriate up to the
2 maximum set by statute for the crime(s] of conviction,

L 7. Defendant and the USAO agree to the following
'15 applicable Sentencing Guidelines factors:

+o ‘sase Offense Level & 3 JU.5.8,6, § 2BL.1(a) (2)

H Specific Offense

18 Characteristics;

19 Loss of more than H 16 U.8.8.G. 8 2BL.1L(M) (L) (1)

51,000,000

20

7 Aggravating Role : 2 U.5.8.G. § 3B1.1(C)

2 Abuse of position : 2 U.5.5.G. 8§ 3B1.3

22 of trust :

23 | _

Total Offense Level 26

“ pefendant and the USAC reserve the right to argue that additional
25 gpecific offense characteristics, adjustments, and departures

2 under the Sentencing Guidelines are appropriate.

Z; 18, Defendant understands that there is no agreement as to

13
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defendant’s criminal history or criminal history category.

19, Defendant and the USAQ reserve the right to argue for a
sentence outside the sentencing range established by the
sentencing Guidelines based on the factors set forth in 18 U.S5.C.
§ 35534{a} (1), (a)({2), {(a) (3}, (a)(6), and (a) (7).

WAIVER OF CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS

20. Defendant understands that by plaading'guilty,
defendant gives up the following rights:

a) The right to persist in a plea of not guilty.

o} Thé right to a speedy and public_trial by jury.

¢} The right to be represented by counsel - and if
necessary have the court appolnt counsel -~ at trial. Defendant
understands, however, that, defendant retains the right to be
represented by counsel - and 1f necessary have the-court appoint
counsel - at every other stage of the proceeding.

d) The right to be presumed innocent and to have the
burden of proof placed on the gévernment to prove defendant
guilty beyond'é reasonable doubt,

e} The right to confront and cross-examine witnesses
against defendant.

£f) The right to testify and to present evidence in
OQpésition to the charges, including the right to compel the
attendance of witnesses to testify, |

g) The right not to be compelled to testify, and, if
defendant chose not to testify or present evidence, to have that
choice not be used against defendant.

h) Any and all rights to pursue any affirmative

daefenses, Fourth Amendment or Fifth Amendment c¢laims, and other

14
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pretrial motions that have been filed or could ke filed.

WAIVER OF APPEAL OF CONVICTIION AND COLLATERAL ATTACK

21. Defendant understands that, with the exception of an
appeal based on a claim that defendant’s guilty ﬁlea were
involuntary, by pleading gullty defendan; is waiving and giving
up any right to appeal defendant’s convictions on the offense to
which defendant is pleading guilty. Defendant gives up the right
to appeal all of the following: (a) the procedures and
calculations used to determine and impose any portion of the
sentencea; (b} the term of imprisonment imposed by the Court,
provided it is within the statutory maximum; (c) the fine imposed
by the court, provided it is within the statutory maximum; {d) the
amount'and terms of any restitution order, provided it reqguires
payment of no more than $978,818; (e) the term of pxobaiion or
supervised releagse imposed by the Court, provided it l1s within
the statutory maximum; and (f) any of the following conditions of
probation or supervised release imposed by the Court: the
conditions set forth in General Orders 318, 01-05, and/or 05-02
off this Court; the drug testing conditions mandated by 18 U.5.C.
§% 3563 (a) (b) and 3583 (d); [and] the alcohol and drug use
conditions authorized by 18 U.S.C. § 3563(b) (7} Qnd any
conditions of probation or supervised release agreed to by
defendant in paragraph 2 above.

.22. Defendant also gives up any right to bring a post-
conviction collateral attack on Lthe conviction or sentence,
including any order of restitution, except a post-conviction
collateral attack based on a claim of ineffective assistance of

counsel, a claim of newly discovered evidence, or an explicitly

15
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sentenaing statutes, orx statutes of conviction.
23, This agreement does not affect in any way the rigﬁt of
the USAO to appeal ‘the sentence inposed by the Court.
LIMITED MUTUAL WAIVER OF APPEAT, OF SENTENCE

24. Defendant agrees that, provided the Court imposes a
total term of imprisonment within or below the range
cérre&ponding to an offense level of 26 and the criminal history
category calculated by the Court, defendant gives up the right to
appeal. all of the following: (a) the procedurxes and calculations
used to determine and impose any portion of the sentence; (b) the
term of imprisonment.imposed'by the Court; (¢) the fine imposead
by the court, provided it is withiﬁ the statutory'maximum; {d}
the amount and terms of any restltution order, provided iﬁ
reguires payment of no more than $978,818; (e) the term of
probation or supervised release imposed by the Court, providéd it
is within the statutory maximum; and (£} any of the following
conditions of probation or supervised release imposed by the
Coﬁrt: the conditions set forth in General Orders 318, 01-05,
and/or 05-02 of this Court; the drug testing conditions mandated
by 18 U.3.C. §&§ 3563(a)(5) and 3583(d); and the alcohol and drué
use conditions authorized by 18 U.5.C, & 3563(by (7).

25. The USAQ agrees that, provided the Court imposes a term
ef imprisonment within or above the range corresponding to an
offense level of 26 and the criminal history category calculated
by the Court, the USAO gives up its right to appeal any portion
of the sentence, with the exception that the USAOC reserves the

right to appeal the amount of restitution ordered Lf that amount

16
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1 Jis less than $978,818.

2 RESULT OF WITHDRAWAL OF GUILTY PLEA

3 26. - bDefendant agrees that if, afﬁer entering a gulilty plea
4 || pursuant to this agreement, defendant seeks to withdraw and

5 || succeeds in withdrawing defendant’s guilty plea on any basis

6 [ other than a claim and finding that entry intorthis plea

7 || agreement was involuntary, then (a) the USAO will‘be relieved of
gl all of its obligations under this agreament, inciuding in

9 | particular its obligations regarding the use of Cooperation

10 || Tnformation; (b)) in ény investigation, criminal prosecution, or
11} cdivil, administrative, or regulatory action, defendant agrees

12 i that any Cooperation Information and any evidence derived from
13| any Cooperation Information shall be admissible against

14 || defendant, and defendant will not assert, and hereby waives and
15 || gives up, any claim under the United States Constitution, any

16. statute, or any federal rule, that any Cooperation Information oy
17 || any evidence derived from any Cooperation Information should be
18 || suppressad or is inadmissible; and {c¢) should the USAO choose to
19 § pursue any charge or any civil, administrative, or regulatory

20 [l action that was either dismissed or not filed as-a result of this
21 agxéement, then {1} any applicable statute of limitations wlll be
22 || tolled between the date of defendant’s signing of this agreement
23 || and the filing commencing any such action; and (ii) defendant

24 f waives and gives uplali defenses based on the statute of

25 1 limitations, any claim of pre-indictment delay, or any specedy

26 || trial claim wiéh respect to any such action, except to the extent
27 [ that such defenses exlsted as of the date of defendant’s signing

. 28 { this agreement.

17
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EFFECTIVE DATE COF AGREEMENT

27. This agreement is effective upon signature and
execution of all required certifications by defendant,

defendant’s ¢ounsel, and an Assistant United States Attorneay.

BREACH OF AGREEMENT

28. Defendant agrees tﬁat 1f defendant, at any time after
the signatﬁré of this agreement and execution of all required
certifications by defendant, defendant’s counsel, and an
Asasistant United States Attorney, knowingly vioclates or fails to
perform any of defendant’s obligations under this agreement (“a
breach”), the USAO may declare this agreement breached. For
examplé, if defendant knowingly, in an interview, before a grand
jury, or at trial, falsely accuses another person of criminal
conduct or falsely minimizes defendant’s own role, oﬁ the role of
another, in criminal conduct, defendant will have breached this
agreement. All of defendant’s obligations are material, a single
breach of this agreement isg sufficient for the USAQO to declare a |
breach, and defendant shall not be deemed to have cured a breach
withoutvthe express agreement of the USAO in writing. If the
USAO'declares this agreement breached, and the Courﬁ finds such a
breach to have occurred, then:

(a) If defendant has previously entered a guilty plea
pursuant to this agreement, defendant will not be able to
withdraw the guilty plea.

(b) The USAQO will be relieved of all its obligations
under this agreement; in particular, the USAC: (i} will no longer
be bound by any agreements concerning sentencing and will be free

to seek any sentence up to the statutory maximum for the <¢rime to

18
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which defendant has pleaded guilty; (11) will no longer be bound

by any agreements regarding criminal prosecution, and will be
free to criminally prosecute_defeﬁdant for any crime, including
charges that the USAO would otherwise have been obligated to
dismiss pursuant to this agreement; and (iii) wlll no longer be
bound by any agreement regarding the use of Cooperation
Information and will be free to use any Cooperation Information
in any way in any investigation, criminal prosecution, oxr civil,
administrative, or regulatory actlon.

) The USAO will be free to criminally proseéute
defendant for false statement, obstruction of justice, and
perjury based on any knowingly false or misleading statement by
defendanﬁ.

d) In any investigation, criminal prosecution, or
civil, administrative, or regulatory'action: {i) defendant will
not assert, and hereby walves and gives up, any claim that any
Cooperation Information was obtalned in violation'of the Flfth
Amendnent privilege against compelled self-incrimination; and
{ii} defendant aérees that any Cooperation Information and any
Plea Information, as well as any evidence derived from any
Cooperation Information or any ?lea Iﬁformation, shall be
admissible against deféndant, and defendant will not assert, and
hereby wailves and gives uﬁ, any claim under the United States
Constitution, any statute, Rule 410 of the Fedéral Rulés of
Evidence, Rule 11 (f) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure,
or any other federxal rule, that any Cooperation Information, aﬁy
Plea Information, or any evidence derived from any Cooperation

information or any Plea Information should be su?pra&sed or is

19
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inadmissible, ‘

29, Following the Court’s finding of a knowing breach of
this-agreement by defendant, should the USAO choose to pursus any
charge or any civil, administrative, or regulatoryractiOﬁ that
was either dismissed or not filed as a resulf of this agreement,
then: |

a) Defendant agrees that any applicable statute of
limitations is tolled between the date of defendant’s slgning of
this agreement and the filing commencing any such action.

b) Defendant waives and gives up all defenses based on
the statute of limitations, any claim of pre-indictment delay, or
any speedy trial claim with respect to any such action, excepﬁ to
the extent that such defenses existed as of the date of
defendant’s signing this agraement., | , ,

CQURT AND PROBATION QFFICE NOT PARTIES

30, Dpefendant understands that the Court and the United
States Probation Office are not parties to this agreement and
need not accept any of the USAO's sentencing recommendations or
the parties’ agréements to facts or sentencing factors,

31. Defendant understands that hoth defendant and the USAC
are free to: {a) aupplement the facts by supplying relevant
information to the United States Probation Office and the Court,
(b} correct any and all factual misstatements relating to the
Court’s Sentencing Guidelineg calculations and determination of
sentence, and {¢) argue on appeal and collateral review that the
Court’s Sentencing Guidelines calculations and the sentence it
chooses to impose are not error, although each party agrees to

maintain its view that the calculations in paragraph 19 are

20
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consistent with the facts of this case. Whille this paragraph
permits both the USAQ and defendant to submit full and complete
factual ilnformation to the United States Probaﬁion Office and the
Court, even if that factual information may be viewed as
inconsistent with the facts agreed to in this agreement, this
paragraph does not affect defendant’s and the USAO’s obligations
not to contest the faots agreed to in this agreement.

32. Defendant understands that even if the Court ignores
any sentencing recommendation, finds facts or reaches conclusions
different from those agreed to, and/or imposes any sentence up to
the maximum established by statute, defendant gannot, for that
reason, withdraw defendant’s guilty plea, and defendant will
remain bound to fulfill all defendant’s obrligations under this
agreement. Defendant understands that no one -- not the
prosecutor, defendant’s attorney, or the Court —-- can ﬁéke a
pinding prediction or promise regarding the sentenée defendant
will receive, except that it will be within the statutory
maximuam.

NO ADDITIONAL AGREFMENTS

33. Defendant understands that, except as set forth herein,
there are no promises, understandings, or agreements belween the
USA0 and defendant or defendantfs attorney, and that no
additional promise, understanding,‘ox agreement may be ehtered
into unless in a writing signed by all parties or on the record

in eourt.

21
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PLEA AGREEMENT FART OF THE GUILTY PLE

34. The parties agree that this agreement will be

considered part of the record of defendant’s guilty plea hearing

ag if the entire aygreement had been read Iinto the record of the

prooesding.

AGREED AND ACCEPTED

UNITED STATES ATTORNEY’S QFFICE
FOR THE CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

ANDRE HBIROTTE JR.
United States Attovney

ment 49 Eiled 11/06/12 Page 22 of 24 Page 1D #132

0. Eenton curtxa A Date
Asglstant Chilef
DoJ Criminal Frayd S8ectlon

!MW Ohyoclrr I/ /}4/«%

Victoria N. Onvéabor , Datel
D&fendamt

Ul S /S e.
Dabra 3 Riae ' Ddte

Attorney for Defendant
Victoria N. Onyeahor

22
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CATION OF DEFENDANT

" I have read thls sgreement in its entirvety. T have had
enough time to review and consider this agreement, and I have
éarefuliy and thoroughly discussed every part of it with my
attorney. I understand the terms of this agreement, and I
voluntarily agree to those terms. I have discussed the evidence
with my aﬁtoxney, and my attorney has adviged me of my wighis, of
possible pretrisl motions that might he filed, of possible
dafenses that might be asserted sither priox to ox at trial, of
thae ssntencing factors set forth in 18 U.8.C. § 3553(a); of
relevant Sentencing Guldelines provisions, and of the
consequencas of entering into this agreament. No promises,
inducements, or representations of any kind have been made to me
other than those contained in this agreement. No ong has
threatened or forcad me in any way to anter into this agreement.
T am satisfled with the representaljon of my attorney in this
matter, and I am pleading guilty because I am guilty of the
charges amd wish to take advantage of the promises sel forth in

this agreement, and not for any other weason.

WeZoms (’7w%ﬂ~ i1 LS.“/

Victoxla M. Onyeabof Data/
befendant

a3
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CRRTIFICATION OF DEFRENDANE’ B ATTORNEY
T am Victoria N, Onyeaborfs attorney. I have carefully and

thoroughly discussed every part of this agreement with my client.
Furthex, X have fully advised my clisnt of her xights, of
posaible prstrisl motions that might be filed, of possible
dafenses that might be asserted aither prior to or at trial, of
the sentencing factors sst forth in 18 U.5.C. 8 3553(a), of
relevant Sentencing Guidelines provisions, ahd of the
conmeguencas of entering into this agreement. To my kbowledge:

no promises, inducements, or representations of any kind heve

. \
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been made £o my client other than those conteined in this

P R
R

agyeemant; no ons has Ghreatened or forced my «lient in any way

-
Lo5]

to entex into this agrsement; my client’s daclslon to enter into

Pt
-3

Fthis agreenent 1s an informed and voluntary.oner and the factual

s
L4

hasis set forth in this agreement is sufficient €O support my

"
L3

mlient’s entry of [al guilty pleafs) pursuant to this agreement,

Babra J. Rica Date
Attorney for Defendant
Viotoria N, Onyesbor

st
~l

o
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

CRIMINAL MINUTES -- GENERAL

Case No. CR-12-905-R Date:'November 7, 2012

PRESENT: HONORABLE MANUEL L. REAL, JUDGE

William Horrell Sheri Kleeger Fred Medick
Courtroom Deputy Court Reporter Ben Curtis
- Asst. U.S. Attorney

U.S.A. vs (Dit listed below) Attorney for Defendant
1} VICTORIA N. ONYEABOR 1) Debra Rice
X present X bond X present X retained

PROCEEDINGS: CHANGE OF PLEA

Court and counsel confer re: the change of plea.

Defendant moves to change her plea to count 1 of the Indictment.

Defendant is sworn. The Court quesi:ions the defendant regarding the offered piea of Guilty.
Defendant now enters new and different plea of Guilty to count 1 of the Indictment.

The Court finds a factual and legal basis for the plea; Waivers of constitutional rights are
freely, voluntarily and intelligently made. The plea is accepted and entered.

The plea agreement is incorporated as part of the record.

THE COURT REFERS THE DEFENDANT TO THE PROBATION OFFICE FOR THE

PREPARATION OF A PRESENTENCE REPORT AND CONTINUES THE MATTER TO
FEBRUARY 4, 2013 AT 1:30 P.M. FOR SENTENCING.

15 min

MINUTES FORM 6 Initials of Deputy Clerk __ WH___
CRIM -~ GEN






